
 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

 
 

Friday, 22 October 2021 
 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
will meet on 

Monday, 1 November 2021 
beginning at 

7:00 pm 
in the 

Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 
 
TO: Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair) 
 Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair) 
  

Councillor Margaret Allingham 
Councillor Ian Corben 
Councillor Richard Gomer 
Councillor Keith House 
Councillor Lucy Jurd 
 

Councillor Rupert Kyrle 
Councillor Derek Pretty 
Councillor Bruce Tennent 
Councillor Tim Bearder 
 

 
Staff Contacts: Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298 

Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk. Please email 
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak 
before the meeting. 
 

 Kitty Budden, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8266; Email: 
kitty.budden@eastleigh.gov.uk 

 
JOANNE CASSAR 

Executive Head of Governance 
 

 
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website  
as well as in other formats. 

 
Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the start of the meeting, 
and on individual agenda items at the time the item is discussed.  To register please 
contact the Democratic Services Officer above. 
 
Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, sound recording and 
photography at meetings open to the public, and Councillors will be using tablet devices to 
access committee papers. 
 

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies  
 

2.   Declarations of Interest  
 
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 
 

3.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 12) 
 
To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2021. 
 

4.   Public Participation  
 
Public seating will be limited at this meeting due to the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic. You can submit questions in advance of the meeting to the following 
email: democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk. The deadline for submissions is 
midday on Friday 29 October 2021. Please let us know if you wish to attend the 
meeting in person so that we can manage numbers.  
 

5.   Chair's report  
 

6.   Local Area Manager's Report  
 

7.   Financial Management (Pages 13 - 18) 
 

8.   Presentation on Planning Guidelines  
 

9.   Planning Application - Land to the rear of 82 St John's Road, Southampton, SO30 
4DF (Pages 19 - 36) 
 
Erection of 1no. detached three-bedroom bungalow provided with associated 
access, car parking, amenity space and storage facilities (amended description). 
(F/20/88079) 
 

10.   Planning Appeals  
 
The Legal Services Manager to report:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals have been dismissed:- 
 

Land at Oak Cottage, Winchester Road, Boorley Green  
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a 
residential development of 31 No dwellings, associated landscaping, 
amenity areas and a means of access from Winchester Road following 
demolition of 1 no dwelling and associated outbuildings. (F/19/85604) 
 
12 Telegraph Road, West End, Southampton SO30 3EJ 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for a loft 

2



 

conversion with a side facing dormer and raising of roof by 1200mm. 
(H/21/90193) 

 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
Monday, 24 January 2022 at 7:00 pm 

In the Hedge End 2000 Centre, St John's 
Road, Hedge End, SO30 4AF 

 

 
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  - 
 
Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email updates 
with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, Transport plus 
lots more.  
 

3

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 27 September 2021  (7:00 pm – 7:37 pm) 
 
PRESENT: 
 
Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Corben, Gomer, 
House, Jurd, Kyrle, Pretty, Tennent and Bearder 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Kinloch 
 

________________________________________ 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY) 
 

111. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest in relation to items of business on 
the agenda. 
 

112. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
There was no public participation on this occasion. 
 

113. MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the Minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2021 be confirmed 
and signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

114. CHAIR'S REPORT 
 
Face-to-Face Committee Meeting 
This was the first face-to-face Local Area Committee for 18 months. The 
Chair thanked everyone who was involved in enabling the meetings to 
continue virtually during the height of the pandemic, and subsequently the 
return back to face-to-face meetings.  
 
Boorley Park Play Area and MUGA 
In July, the Chair was pleased to officially open the new children’s play 
area and Multi Use Games Area in Boorley Park. This has been well 
received by the local children and parents. More recently, with the 
relaxation of the Covid restrictions, a bench has been installed in the play 
area for parents to use. 
 
Hatch Farm Working Group 
Hatch Farm Working Group continues to work together to deliver 
improvements to the Barnsland Recreation Ground and a Wheeled Sports 
Area on the Hatch Farm public open space.  A consultation exercise was 

5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

carried out at the West End Youthouse Community Games and Fearless 
have now been appointed as the provider for the Wheeled Sports Area. 
They will work with users of the facility and the working group to develop 
and deliver a fantastic new space for the community. 
 
Berrywood Fields 
Earlier this summer, work commenced on the delivery of more community 
facilities in the form of grass playing pitches and public open space at 
Berrywood Fields. These football pitches, together with the Artificial Turf 
Pitch on the Deer Park School site, are being funded by Developers 
Contributions allocated by the Committee, and will provide a facility for the 
community and local clubs for team sports.   
 
Deer Park Secondary School 
Travelling along Woodhouse Lane, the new Deer Park Secondary School 
can be clearly seen and is the first brand new secondary school to be 
delivered in Hampshire for 30 years.  The new complex is being further 
enhanced by the extension to the Sports Hall and the installation of the 
Artificial Turf Pitch.  The new school year has begun successfully and 
pupils were thriving in their new environment.   
 
Chalcroft Way Link Road 
As work continues on Woodhouse Lane to deliver the road improvements 
to enable access to Deer Park school and the future housing development, 
and deliver the Botley Bypass, a section of the new road infrastructure for 
the new community at Horton Heath has recently opened.  The new 
Chalcroft Way link road connects Bubb Lane with Burnetts Lane and while 
it currently only provides access to Chalcroft Business Park, this was a 
significant step forward in delivering the infrastructure for the One Horton 
Heath development. 
 
Hedge End Station Car Park 
The project to install the new height barrier at the Hedge End Station car 
park was almost complete with the legal notices confirming the height 
restriction having been put up last week. 
 
Living Well Partnership Merger 
Residents in the Hedge End and Botley area will have been aware of the 
recent consultation carried out by the NHS Hampshire, Southampton and 
Isle of Wight Clinical Commissioning Group. This followed a proposal from 
the Living Well Partnership who provide GP services at St Luke’s and 
Botley surgeries, to merge the practice with their Southampton practice 
into one NHS contract.  While the CCG have now approved the 
application, the Local Area Committee were continuing to engage with the 
CCG to ensure residents views were represented. 
 
Community Grants 
The local Community and Youth Grants scheme was due to open this 
week, providing an opportunity for charities and not for profit organisations 
in Hedge End, West End and Botley to apply to the Local Area Committee 

6



3 
 

for grants for up to £500 towards one off projects, equipment and 
individual events.  The grant scheme will run for seven weeks and all 
applications will be considered by the Local Area Committee in January. 
 
Eastleigh Unwrapped 
An exciting new arts event for Hedge End took place at Greta Park this 
month, supported by the Committee, with Eastleigh Unwrapped coming 
out of Eastleigh town centre for the first time.  
 
The Berry Theatre 
The Berry Theatre was opening its doors again with tickets on sale for 
some live performances this autumn, to provide much needed fun and 
excitement following the challenges of the last year.  
 
Itchen Valley Country Park 
In July the Council approved funding for a range of infrastructure 
improvements at Itchen Valley Country Park, supported by Developers 
Contributions from this Committee. The project will see the provision of a 
new community building to replace the Kingfisher Barn, a central events 
and welcoming space at Highwood Barn, upgraded play equipment and 
better parking, amongst other things. The park was currently hosting a 
British Wildlife Photography exhibition at the Woodland Café which runs 
until Friday 1 November. 
 

115. LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT 
 
Shamblehurst Lane pedestrian crossing 
The completion of this project had been delayed due to the need for works 
to be undertaken by the utility company.  This work has now been 
scheduled for October and should be completed this year. 
 
Partnership Working 
Following further flooding incidences, the multi-agency flood resilience 
partnership is re-convening to look at the affected properties in Hedge 
End, West End and Botley and develop an action plan to seek to manage 
the flooding. The first meeting to look at the impact on Botley was taking 
place this week. 
 
Midlands Estate 
In response to feedback from residents, the planter installed as part of the 
original works had been removed and an additional parking space created.  
The final element of this scheme involved tree planting which was to take 
place this planting season. 
 
Boorley Park buildings 
Negotiations have continued with the developers at Boorley Park to 
address the snagging issues at the community buildings.  Agreement has 
now been reached regarding the works required to ensure the buildings 
were fit for purpose and confirmation of the timescale for these works to be 
carried out is awaited. 

7



4 
 

 
Wildern Traffic Study 
The Wildern Traffic Study to look at the impact of school parking in the 
locality commenced at the beginning of September and will run until 
January. The results of the study and the recommendations coming from it 
will be presented to the Committee for consideration. 
 
Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel 
The date for the Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel was currently being arranged 
and will be published as soon as possible. The meeting provides the 
opportunity for local residents to attend and participate in discussions 
related to events at the Ageas Bowl, particularly around the impact on 
parking for local residents.  This meeting was cancelled last year due to 
the Covid pandemic. 
 
Park Sport 
The Committee provided funding for the Summer Park Sport programme 
this year, which happily made a return to live events this year together with 
a mystery trail for families via an app.   
 
Community Investment Programme 
The annual review of projects within the Committee’s Community 
Investment Programme has commenced. The Local Area Manager had 
met with the clerks of Hedge End Town Council and Botley Parish Council 
and was meeting with the clerk of West End Parish Council. These 
meetings are held to discuss local priorities and to ensure that any funding 
was used effectively. 
 

116. ANNUAL REVIEW 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 7) which highlighted the main areas of work undertaken by the Hedge 
End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee in 2020/21. It also 
included a summary of the Chair’s annual review for 2020/21. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee considered and agreed the contents of the 
report.  
 

117. APPOINTMENTS TO REGULATORY PANELS, OTHER GROUPS AND 
OUTSIDE BODIES 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 8) concerning appointments to regulatory panels and outside bodies. 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Committee approved: 
 

8



5 
 

(1) The nominations for 2021-22 municipal year appointments to 
regulatory panels and other groups as set out in paragraph 5; 
and 

(2) The proposed nominations for 2021-22 municipal year 
appointments to Outside Bodies, as set out in Appendix. 

 
118. TRAFFIC REGULATION ORDER FOR VARIOUS ROADS. HEDGE END, 

WEST END AND BOTLEY 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Traffic Management Engineer 
(Agenda item 9) which detailed representations received in response to 
proposed waiting restrictions on various roads. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
(1) That waiting and loading restrictions are introduced as 

advertised on the following roads: 

A334 Broad Oak/Botley High Street, Barrowfields Close, Chalk 
Hill, Monarch Way (outside No 120), Moorgreen Road, 
Wellstead Way; 
 

(2) “No stopping on entrance markings” restrictions are 
introduced as advertised on Maunsell Way, Pomeroy Crescent, 
Wellstead Way; 

(3) The proposed waiting restrictions in Monarch Way (spur 
serving Nos 16 – 21) are withdrawn; 

(4) A decision on the proposed waiting restrictions in Upper 
Northam Road and Yew Tree Close is deferred until a review of 
waiting restrictions in the surrounding area is carried out; 

(5) The principle order is amended to expedite the implementation 
and removal of disabled persons parking places in the Hedge 
End, West End and Botley area.  

(6) The proposed waiting restrictions on Maunsell Way are 
withdrawn from this traffic order and are subject to 
consultation via an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order. 

 
[NOTE: (a) One local resident spoke in objection to the proposed 
waiting restrictions on Monarch Way citing concerns of being unable 
to park outside of their house. (b) It was confirmed that a review of 
Yew Tree Close was to be carried out within six months.] 
 

119. STREET NAMING REPORT 
 
The Committee considered a report by the Highways Engineer. (Agenda 
Item 9a) 

9



6 
 

 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the name ‘Deer Park Avenue’ for a new road near Woodside 
Lane was accepted. 
 

120. PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The Legal Services Manager reported:- 
 
(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:- 
 

11 Eden Road, West End, Southampton. SO18 3QW  
 

Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for 1 
no. Beech (T1) – fell. 
 
This was a delegated decision. 
 
Lechlade Cottage, Botley Road, Fair Oak. SO50 7AP 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the erection of a detached annexe. 
 
This was a delegated decision. 
 
Land adjacent to 38 Oak Vale, West End, Southampton. SO30 3SF 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant permission for 1 no. 
Oak (T1) to remove overhang back to boundary/ 
 
This was a delegated decision. 
 
Land to the South of Brigadier Gerard Public House, Botley Road, 
Horton Heath. SO50 7DQ 
 
Appeal against enforcement notice. Without planning permission, 
engineering works, namely unauthorised excavation works, 
resulting from unauthorised tree works on trees covered by 
Woodland Tree Preservation Order 839, the importation of waste on 
to the site to aid the burning of the waste, removal of hedgerows 
creating an access on to the highway from the land. 
 
12 Telegraph Road, West End, Southampton, SO30 3EJ 
 
Appeal against Council’s refusal to grant planning permission for a 
Loft conversion with a side facing dormer and raising of roof by 
1200mm.  
 
This was a delegated decision. 

 
(b) that the following appeals had been dismissed:- 
 

10



7 
 

Land to the south of Maddoxford Lane and west of Westfield, 
Boorley Green, Botley, SO32 2DB 
 
Appeal against the Council’s refusal to grant planning permission 
for the construction of 92 dwellings; the creation of new vehicular 
access with footways from Maddoxford Lane; provision of informal 
and formal open space, together with associated highways, 
landscape, and earth works and level changes, foul and surface 
water drainage facilities, utilities provision and other associated and 
necessary infrastructure.  

 
This was a Local Area Committee decision. 
 
RESOLVED - 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
M6805 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE  

Monday, 1 November 2021  

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

Report of the Local Area Manager 

 

Recommendation 

It is recommended that this Committee:  
 

1) approves the stated fees and charges for Itchen Valley Country Park for 2022; 
and 

 

2) approves the freezing of fees and charges at Hedge End Station car park. 
 

Summary 
 
Fees and Charges for Council services are reviewed on a regular basis.  In accordance 
with the Council’s budget strategy, fees and charges levied by the Council are reviewed 
with the intention of increasing yield linked to inflation.  The yield target this year is 3%.  
This report sets out the proposed amendments to the fees and charges at Itchen Valley 
Country Park (IVCP). 

Statutory Powers 
 
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 

 

Strategic Implications  

1. Income from fees and charges at IVCP support the ongoing management and 
maintenance of the site.  The country park contributes to the Council’s 
strategic aims of a Green Borough and Healthy Community. The proposed 
fees and charges are broadly in line with the projected yield stipulated by 
corporate policy. 

Itchen Valley Fees and Charges 

2. The Council agrees an annual strategy regarding fees and charges.  In 
2022/23 the target yield is 3%.  This Committee has the authority to set the 
fees and charges at IVCP.  The proposed changes take account of the 
Masterplan proposals and associated business case and support the long-
term plans for the site.   

13

Agenda Item 7



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

3. Councillors will recall that in November 2020, this Committee approved the 
freezing of fees and charges at IVCP in light of the impact of the pandemic. 
For 2022/23, changes to the fees and charges have been proposed.  The 
Country Parks Manager has discussed these changes with the Local Area 
Manager and the proposals are set out in Appendix One. 

4. The key changes to note are as follows:  

5. Currently, the barbeque charges have been split with separate charging rates 
for bookings on Monday-Thursday and Friday-Sunday.  Moving forward, the 
Country Parks Manager has recommended that the charging moves to a 
single pricing structure to simplify the offer.    

6. If school parties wish to hire a room at IVCP, the Kingfisher Room is the only 
available option.  Reference to ‘classroom hire’ is therefore proposed to be 
removed as the hire of the Kingfisher Room is listed separately. 

7. The introduction of a whole class charge for an educational visit replaces the 
existing per child charge for visits/activities led by Council staff.  This change 
reflects the industry standard for day visit charges and better reflects the fixed 
costs of delivery of school visits.  For comparison, for a class of 30, per head 
cost would be £5.83.  

8. The Kingfisher Room is available for rental per hour with a minimum charge of 
2 hours.  The on-costs for a short-duration rental are the same as full day 
costs.  The charge is therefore recommended to increase by 7.69% to £28.00 
(an increase of £2.00) to reflect booking and cleaning requirements.  

9. The base level charge for guided walks is proposed to be removed to reflect 
the new approach to public engagement which seeks to set charges for 
individual guided walks depending on the nature of the walk and the target 
audience.  This year, the Country Parks Manager was able to secure grant 
funding to deliver heavily subsidised or free walks for low-income groups.  
Further opportunities are being explored to continue this outreach provision.    

10. Car parking rates have been frozen for the last 18 months and it is necessary 
to see an increase in prices this year.  While the rates have increased an 
average of 3.68% across all tariff bands, the changes aim to incentivise longer 
visit times by freezing or decreasing upper bands.  It is necessary to increase 
the lower bands by 10p increments as the pay machines do not accept lower 
denominations of coins.  Increases are also proposed to permit charges, 
following the price freeze last year.  There are relatively few permits in 
circulation (approx. 400 out of 92,000 car visits annually) and their value to the 
site and users will be reviewed once the ANPR system is delivered as part of 
the Masterplan. 

Hedge End Station Car Park 

11. Due to the impact of Covid-19 and the associated change in residents working 
arrangements, the usage of the Hedge End Station car park has been very 
low and remains well below normal levels.  In light of the current lack of 

14



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

recovery and the continued uncertainty, it is proposed that the fees and 
charges at this site are frozen for 2022/23. 

Financial Implications 

12. The fees and charges must be implemented in order to achieve the corporate 
target of 3% yield.  

13. At IVCP, the budgeted outturn for car parking in 2022/23 is £182,000.  In 
2020/21, the actual outturn was £200,000. The average parking spend for 
2020/21 was £2.52; the average spend this year since April is £2.90.  The 
business plan for the site seeks to encourage longer dwell time with a 
masterplan target of 50% migration of short-term users (1-2 hours) up a band 
to the next tariff.  The available data for this year indicates that this migration 
has already started as a result of the changes in programming at the country 
park.  The proposed parking charges further incentivise this shift and it is 
considered that the yield will exceed the 3% target.  The delivery of the 
masterplan will facilitate the achievement of this longer-term target.     

Risk Assessment 

14.  If the Committee does not comply with the corporate fees and charges policy 
and the income target is not achieved, then it will be liable for any shortfall at 
IVCP.  A shortfall at Hedge End Station car park would be met corporately, as 
the recommendation to freeze the charges as been proposed by the service 
rather than this Committee (provided the Committee accepts the 
recommendation).  Should income targets for IVCP not be achieved, there is 
the potential for an impact on service delivery at the site and the wider 
masterplan may need to be reviewed. 

Equality and Diversity Implications 

15. The Equality Act is not relevant to the majority of decisions in this report 
because they do not have equality and diversity implications.  Due regard has 
been had to equality issues as free car parking has been retained for those 
with disabilities. 

16. The main income streams for IVCP are parking and catering, neither of which 
can be means tested.  However, the charges for these are deliberately set to 
be affordable to a wider audience. For example, the car parking charges are 
lower than the parking charges for the nearest competitor parks (for example, 
the current one-hour parking tariff at Royal Victoria Country Park is £1.80).     
 

17. The Park has offered targeted, grant-funded sessions this year, which have 
provided free access, transport and activities for low-income families.  Free 
guided walks have also been provided specifically for isolated elderly 
residents. 

 

Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

15



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

The provision of car parking and affordable parking charges within the site 
continues to encourage visitors to drive to the country park, which has an 
environmental impact.  Balanced with this, affordable parking charges enable 
visitors, and particularly families, to continue to enjoy the facilities at Itchen 
Valley Country Park, which aims to educate its visitors about the environment 
and sustainability. While the site is currently not easily accessible by public 
transport, cycle parking is provided to encourage sustainable travel.  In future 
years, there may be the opportunity to link the Country Park to a wider cycle 
route network through the delivery of a SANG (Suitable Alternative Natural 
Greenspace) associated with the One Horton Heath development. 
  

Conclusion 

18. The Committee is requested to approve the fees and charges at Itchen Valley 
Country Park as set out above and at Appendix One.   

KITTY BUDDEN 
LOCAL AREA MANAGER 

 
Date: 18 October 2021 
Contact Officer: Kitty Budden  
Tel No: 02380 688418 
e-mail: kitty.budden@eastleigh.gov.uk 
Appendices Attached: 1 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D 

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information. 

None. 

16



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Appendix One 
 
Itchen Valley Country Park: Fees and Charges 2022 
 

Itchen Valley Country Park 

 1 April 2021 1 January 2022 Change % 

Barbeque Charges    

Up to 60 people 
Monday-Thursday 

48.00 Remove n/a 

Up to 60 people 64.00 66.00 3.13 

Over 60 people 
Monday-Thursday 

77.00 Remove n/a 

Over 60 people 90.00 93.00 3.33 

School Parties    

Classroom hire 58.00 Remove n/a 

Visit/ activity led by 
EBC staff, per 
child 

5.60 Remove  n/a 

Whole class 
education visit 

New charging rate 175.00 n/a 

General Guided 
Walks (Minimum 
charge) 

   

Adults 4.00 Remove n/a 

Concessions 3.00 Remove n/a 

Kingfisher Room    

Room hire per 
hour (minimum 
charge 2 hours) 

26.00 28.00 7.69 

Room hire for 
parties (up to 5 
hours) 

58.00 60.00 3.45 

Hire of High Hill 
Field (minimum 
charge) 

   

Charitable 
Organisations 

   

- Up to 1000 
people 

372.00 372.00 0.00 

- Over 1000 
people 

680.00 680.00 0.00 

Non-charitable 
Organisations 

   

- Up to 1000 
people 

680.00 680.00 0.00 

- Over 1000 
people 

1630.00 1630.00 0.00 

Car Parking    

Up to one hour 1.50 1.70 13.33 

17



 Eastleigh Borough Council 
 
  

Up to two hours 2.80 2.90 3.57 

Up to three hours 4.00 4.00 0.00 

Four hours + 4.60 4.50 -0.10 

Other Parking 
Charges 

   

Coaches 22.00 23.00 4.55 

Orange/ Blue 
badges 

Free Free n/a 

Motorcycles Free Free n/a 

Annual permits 49.00 51.00 4.08 

6 monthly permits 27.00 29.00 7.41 

Quarterly permits 17.00 19.00 11.76 

 
 
 
 
 
 

18



HEWEB, Hedge End, West End and Bursledon Local Area Committee 1st November 
2021 
 
Application Number: F/20/88079 
Case Officer: Rachael Morris 
Received Date: 23rd June 2020 
Site Address: Land to the rear of 82 St John's Road, Southampton, SO30 

4DF 
Applicant: Mr W. Newman 
Proposal: Erection of 1no. detached three-bedroom bungalow 

provided with associated access, car parking, amenity 
space and storage facilities (amended description).  
 

Recommendation:  Permit subject to suggested conditions and: 
 

- Securing mitigation towards the development’s 
impact on the Special Protection Area by way of 
nitrates and recreational disturbance 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
 

 
CONDITIONS AND REASONS: 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance 
with the following plans numbered: P01, P02, P03 Rev B, P05 Rev 
B, P06 Rev B, P07 Rev B, P08 Rev B, P09 Rev B, P10 Rev B, P11 Rev 
B, P12 Rev B, P13 Rev B, P14 Rev B, P15, P16 Rev B 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning  

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years 

from the date of this decision. 
 
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990. 
 

3. No construction or demolition work shall start until a Construction 
Environmental Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.  The CEMP should address 
the following impacts: 
 
(a) A programme of and phasing of demolition (if any) and construction 
work; 
(b) The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking; 
(c) The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction 
works; 
(d) Methods and phasing of construction works; 

19

Agenda Item 9



(e) Access and egress for plant and machinery; 
(f) Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 
(g) Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction 
material, and plant storage areas; 
(h) Details of the methodology for ensuring dirt is not transferred onto 
the highway from the site (i.e. wheel washers), and onwards mitigation 
should this fail, such as the employment of mechanical road sweepers. 
(j) Dust suppression 
(k) Chemical and/or fuel run-off from construction into nearby 
watercourse(s) 
(l) Waste disposal 
 

Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance 
with the approved method statement. 
 

Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the 
locality 

 
4. The development must accord with the arboricultural report reference 

20184-AA-DC. No excavation, demolition or development related works 
shall commence until the tree protection measures have been installed 
as per the tree protection plan reference 20184-BT1. Once installed, no 
access by vehicles or placement of goods, chemicals, fuels, soil or 
other materials shall take place within the protected area. Tree 
protection measures shall be retained in their approved form for the 
duration of the work and may only be modified subject to written 
agreement from the LPA.  

 
Reason: To retain and protect the existing trees which form an 
important part of the amenity of the locality. 

 
5. No development shall commence, above damp-proof course level, until 

details of the materials to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the dwelling; paving and external floor surfacing materials; 
the gated entrance and front boundary treatment; and the bin and cycle 
store have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of 
the amenities of the area. 

 
 

6. The development shall not be occupied until a site wide landscaping 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall cover all hard & soft landscaping 
[including trees and boundary treatment] and shall provide details of 
timings for all landscaping and any future maintenance. The works shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and to the 
appropriate British Standard. The site wide landscaping scheme shall 

20



be completed by the end of the first planting season following 
occupation of the dwelling. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to 
safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residents. 

 
7. Prior to the occupation of the development, as built stage SAP data and 

as built stage water calculator confirming energy efficiency and the 
predicted internal mains water consumption to achieve the following 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority: In respect of energy efficiency, a standard of a 19% 
improvement of dwelling emission rate over the target emission rate as 
set in the 2013 Building Regulations In respect of water consumption, a 
maximum predicted internal mains water consumption of 105 
litres/person/day. The development shall not be carried out otherwise 
than in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To support a comprehensive approach to high quality design; 
in line with the guidance set out in the Government's Ministerial 
Statement of 25 March 2015 which states that Local Planning 
Authorities should, from the date of its publication, take into account the 
government's intentions in the statement 

 
8. No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source 

shall take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out 
process. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties 
 

9. No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place 
during the construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 
1800 Mondays to Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all 
on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings. 

 
10. For a period of no less than 5 years after planting, any trees or plants 

which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective, 
shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of 
the same species, size and number as originally approved in the 
landscaping scheme. 

 
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality. 

 
 

11. The following ecological measures are approved and shall be followed: 

 The bird roosting boxes shall be installed prior to first occupation. 

 Native fruiting shrubs shall be planted in the hedgerow prior to first 
occupation. 

21



 The hedgerows shall be managed so that only part of them are 
trimmed during any one year, on a 3 year rotation so that there are 
always berries available.  

 A native wildflower mix such as Emorsgate EH1 F shall be planted 
along the hedgerow prior to first occupation. 

 A flowering lawn mixture shall be used such as Emorsgate EL1 or 
EM2 prior to first occupation. 

 The closed board fencing shall have 15 x 15 cm gaps in the 
baseboards to allow the passage of small mammals such as 
hedgehogs between neighbouring gardens, and shall be installed 
prior to first occupation 

 
Reason: To protect and enhance biodiversity. 

 
12. The development shall be built in accordance with the approved levels 

as shown in drawings P12 Rev B titled ‘Bungalow Sections AA and BB’.   
 
Reason: To ensure the protection of neighbouring residential amenity. 

 
13. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 

[General Permitted Development] Order 2015 [or any order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification], no 
development permitted by Classes A, AA, B, C, D and E of Part 1 of 
Schedule 2 of the order shall be carried out without the prior written 
consent of The Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a good 
quality environment. 

 
Note to applicant. Given the nature of the proposed development it is possible 
that a crane may be required during its construction. We would, therefore, 
draw the applicant’s attention to the requirement within the British Standard 
‘Code of practice for safe use of cranes’ for crane operators to consult the 
aerodrome before erecting a crane in close proximity to an aerodrome. This is 
explained further in Advice Note 4, ‘Cranes and Other Construction Issues’, 
available at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-
Cranes-2016.pdf 
 
Note to applicant. Whilst HCC Highways Development Planning has no 
objection in principle to the proposed dropped kerb, the developer should be 
made aware that subject to any planning permission that may be granted by 
the Local Planning Authority, a subsequent permission will need to be granted 
by HCC as Highways Authority to undertake the dropped kerb works on the 
highway. Details of this procedure can be found via the following link: 
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/parking/droppedkerbs 
Note to Applicant: the permission does not authorise the undertaking of any 
works involving excavations in the carriageway, footway or verge. A road 
opening permit should be obtained from Hampshire County Council at 
Hampshire County Highways Jacobs Gutter Lane, Totton, Southampton, 

22

http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf
http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note-4-Cranes-2016.pdf


Hampshire, SO40 9TQ. Tel: 0845 603 5633. E-mail: roads@hants.gov.uk 
Website: www.hants.gov.uk/highways  
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner.  
______________________________________________________________ 
 
Report: 
 
1. This application has been referred to committee by The Executive Head for 

Planning and Economy. 
 
Description of Application 
 
2. This application proposes the erection of 1no. detached three-bedroom 

bungalow provided with associated access, car parking, amenity space 
and storage facilities. This is an amended description, whereby over the 
course of the application’s life the design has been amended by way of 
reducing the footprint (pulling in further from the rear and side boundaries), 
amending the roof form to one roof type, and reducing the dwelling by one 
bedroom.   

 
3. The application proposes a detached bungalow to the centre of the plot, 

allowing for an area of parking to the front with associated bin and cycle 
storage and providing the private amenity garden space to the rear.  The 
bungalow is all on one floor although the proposal includes some 
excavation to sink the proposal down into the site.    

 
4. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical 

assessments: 
 

 Design and access statement 

 Ecological appraisal 

 Tree protection method statement. 
 
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality 
 
5. The application site is within the established residential area of Hedge End. 

The site was formerly part of the rear garden of 82 St Johns Road, a 
detached, two-storey property to the south-east that dates from the turn of 
the 20th century. The ownership of the appeal plot is now severed from the 
former host property.  
 

6. The land drops from the south-east to the north-west, with the remaining 
area of No 82’s back garden being terraced above the appeal site, and 
also from the north-east to the south-west with No 84 being on slightly 
higher ground and No 80 on slightly lower. To the north-west of the site is a 

23

http://www.hants.gov.uk/highways


more modern development, Norman Gardens, which predominantly 
comprises bungalows. 

 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 

REFERENCE DESCRIPTION DECISION 

F/15/76948 Erection of 3-bedroom detached 
bungalow with detached garage, 
associated parking & amenity 
space. 

Refused Jan 2016 
(dismissed at Appeal 
July 2016) 

F/15/75840 Construction of 2no. three-
bedroom semi-detached chalet 
style dwellings with associated 
parking & amenity space with 
access from Norman Gardens. 

Refused Jul 2015 
(dismissed at Appeal 
Dec 2015) 

F/14/74670 Erection of 2no. Two bed 
dwellings with associated 
detached double garage, parking 
and amenity space. 

Refused Jul 2014 

F/07/60238 Construction of 2 semi-detached 
chalet bungalows with integral 
garage & access from Norman 
Gardens. 

Withdrawn Sep 2007 

Z/18255/001/00 Outline: erection of detached 
bungalow 

Refused Jan 1989 

Z/18255/000/00 Erection of a single storey 
dwelling 

Refuse May 1978 
(Appeal Dismissed Aug 
1979) 

 
 
Representations Received 
 
7. 16.no representations have been made, 12.no of these were objections 

and 4.no were comments.  The points from these representations are 
summarised below:  

 

 Design not in keeping 

 Overdevelopment/too large 

 Out of place 

 Need to preserve countryside 

 Need to be protect wildlife areas 

 Climate change 

 Too much new housing 

 Not enough schools 

 Not enough parking 

 Not enough general infrastructure 

 Lack of room for children to play 

 Additional traffic 

24



 Overlooking and impact on privacy 

 Increase in noise from rear garden 

 Removal of soil and site clearance undertaken prior to planning 
decision 

 Sets a precedent for other future development 

 Boundary contested 

 Need to keep as many green spaces as possible 

 Intended use 

 Drainage and flooding issues  

 Change of roof form from sedum to a solid pitched roof is less 
sustainable  

 
 
Consultation Responses 
 
8. Tree Team - No objection, subject to conditions 
 
 
9. Ecology Team – No Objection 
 
 
10. Urban Design Team - No objection - I agree that the footprint needs to be 

reduced and I think the draft amended plan looks about right.  I have no 
objection to the design, although I have always thought that the mix of low 
pitch and flat parapet roof is a little awkward. However, it will probably help 
reduce its visual presence in the street scene. In my view, the design 
appears to have adequately overcome all previous reasons for refusal. 

 
11. Natural England - No objection subject to securing appropriate mitigation 
 
12. Southern Water - No objection. The consultation includes a plan showing 

the approximate position of the existing water distribution main within the 
development site. A copy of which is available on the Eastleigh Borough 
Council website. The exact position of the public water distribution main 
must be determined on site by the Applicant in consultation with Southern 
Water. 

 
13. Town Council – Objection on the basis of overdevelopment and not in 

keeping with the street scene  
 

14. Highway Officer (HCC) – No objection from a highways perspective. 

 
 
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site 
 

 Within Built-up Area Boundary 

 Within Established Residential Area 

 Within HRA Screening Area 

 Within Solent Mitigation and Disturbance Zone 

25



 
Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies 
 
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies: 
 

 25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity); 

 26.NC (Protection of wildlife network); 

 28.ES (Waste collection and storage); 

 34.ES (Reduction of greenhouse gases/ Sustainable construction); 

 36.ES (Lighting design); 

 37.ES (Energy efficiency); 

 45.ES (Sustainable drainage); 

 59.BE (Design criteria); 

 100.T (Transport criteria); 

 102.T (New accesses); 

 104.T (Off-highway parking); 
 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014 
 
15. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 

examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While 
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can 
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

 
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036 
 
16. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on 

31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January 
2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April 
2020.  The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to 
enable its adoption, anticipated in late 2021/early 2022.  Given the status 
of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall considerable weight can 
be attributed to it. The most relevant policies are: 

 
Strategic policies: 

 S1 (Sustainable Development); 

 S2 (Promotion of New Development); 

 S3 (Housing Locations); 
 

Development Management policies: 

 DM1 (General Development Criteria); 

 DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development); 

 DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change); 

 DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and Watercourse 

 Management); 

 DM10 (Water and Waste Water); 

 DM11 (Nature Conservation);  

26



 DM13 (Transport); 

 DM14 (Car Parking); 

 DM23 (Residential Development in Urban Areas); 

 DM32 (Space Standards): 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
- Quality Places (November 2011); 
- Residential Parking Standards (January 2009); 
- Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009); 
- Biodiversity (December 2009); 
-  Supplementary Planning Document: Character Area Appraisals – Hedge 
End, West End and Botley (HEWEB 28). 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 
 
17. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or 

the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy 
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of 
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. A deliverable 5 year supply of housing within each local 
authority area is required, and if this is not demonstrated a tilted balance in 
favour of the development applies. Agent of Change principles protect 
existing businesses. 

 
18. The NPPF refers to the development of residential gardens under 

paragraphs 71 and 124d.  These paragraphs note to resist inappropriate 
development of residential gardens, for example where development would 
cause harm to the local area but also stating that planning policies and 
decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land, 
while taking into account the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing 
character and setting (including residential gardens). 

 
19. Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic 

(supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social (providing 
housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local services); 
and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing natural, built 
and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also be taken 
into account, so that development responds to the different opportunities 
for achieving sustainable development in different areas. 

 
National Planning Practice Guidance  
 
20. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the 

provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the 
consideration and determination of planning applications.  

27



 
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background 
 
21. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local 
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and 
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case).  The NPPF and the 
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant 
weight. 

Principle: 
 
22. The application site lies within the urban edge, within an established 

residential area, and sustainably located in relation to a wide range of 
services and facilities. Within the urban edge the principle of development 
is acceptable, with any formal planning approval being based upon the 
exact nature, design and impact of that proposed being considered 
appropriate and in accordance with the relevant Local Plan policies and 
Supplementary Planning Documents.  
 

23. The most relevant policy in this case is Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local 
Plan, which requires development to take full and proper account of the 
context of the site including the character and appearance of the locality 
and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It 
also requires a high standard of landscape design, a satisfactory means of 
access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and pedestrians, to make provision 
for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring 
uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and noise and 
fumes.  

 
24. The proposal would represent the development of a residential garden, 

which does not fall within the definition of previously developed land (as 
defined on page 70 of the NPPF, revised July 2020).  However, this does 
not preclude the site from being developed, instead it is up to the decision 
maker to balance the requirement to make efficient use of urban land 
verses the potential impact the development would have on the prevailing 
character of the area.  This will be considered below in the detailed 
assessment section.  

 
25. Of particular importance in the site planning history are two refused 

planning applications, which were subsequently dismissed at appeal.  The 
first relates to a pair of semi-detached chalet style dwellings (F/15/75840, 
appeal reference APP/W1715/W/15/3130826) and the second relates to a 
three-bedroom detached bungalow (F/15/76948, appeal reference 
APP/W1715/W/16/3145461). The closest to the current proposal was the 
three-bedroom detached bungalow, which was refused by the Local 
Planning Authority due to the siting, form, scale, layout and appearance of 

28



the development that would be against the prevailing character of the 
immediate area. A second reason for refusal was the bulk of the dwelling 
and its siting to boundaries which would result in a visually intrusive and 
dominating development when viewed by neighbouring properties.      

 
26. In the Inspector’s view the appeal development would represent the 

insertion of a building that would appear incongruous because of its 
isolated position and lack of reference to either the properties to the south-
east or north-west.  In the case of this proposed bungalow its form was 
substantial and as such failed to articulate any relationship with the 
difference styles and character of its neighbours.  As such, the breaches in 
the prevailing character were magnified by the topography of the appeal 
site, which would stand above Norman Gardens creating a sense of 
overbearing.  The appeal bungalow would only have been 1m lower than 
the semi-detached pair of dwellings previously proposed and so did not 
negate the material harm that dismissed the previous appeal.   

 

27. Turning to the second reason for refusal, The Inspector did not uphold the 
Local Planning Authority’s argument that the appeal property would give 
rise to material overlooking, commenting that the limited loss of privacy to 
no.82 St Johns Road and no.6 and no.9 Norman Gardens was in line with 
what is seen in urban areas.  However, The Inspector was concerned with 
the relationship to no.80 and no.84 St Johns Road due to the proposal’s 
bulk and proximity to plot boundaries and so the appeal was also 
dismissed on these grounds.  

 
Character and Appearance: 

 

28. The development proposes a more traditional dwelling than what was 
originally submitted within this application.  The proposal originally 
submitted was more contemporary with a sedum roof aspect to the rear 
and hipped roof to the front whereas now this hipped roof will be seen 
throughout the entire dwelling’s roof form and will be finished in zinc to 
allow for a shallow pitch, not otherwise achievable.  Also, during the most 
recent amendment, the height has increased by approx. 0.4m to allow for 
the new roof form but still only measures approx. 4m at its highest point. 

 
29. The height of just 4m with the sectional appearance provided throughout 

the excavation levels simulates that of several outbuildings, which would 
be commonly found in many residential gardens.  The sectional design of 
the roof form also breaks up the impact of the dwelling when compared to 
a continuous roof form.      
 

30. This shallow pitch and excavated form results in a low-key design which 
will sit modestly on the site.  The proposed hardstanding, which the 
previous Appeal Inspector considered to be incongruous, has been 
reduced in overall width and additional vegetation proposed. The 
hardstanding with shallow entrance gate helps to soften the dwelling into 
its plot.  

29



 

31. The position of the bungalow at the end of the cul-de-sac will finish off the 
appearance of Norman Gardens. Therefore, whilst the position of the 
dwelling in the rear garden of no.82 is different from the surrounding 
properties, the dwelling is not considered to have an unacceptable impact 
on the character of the locality.  

 

32. Overall, due to the shallow nature of the proposal, this property does not 
create a dominating nor overbearing dwelling.  In addition, the hipped roof 
bungalow reflects the character seen in Norman Gardens and St Johns 
Road.  The design works hard to not come across as incongruous and not 
to disrupt the prevailing character of the locality.  Instead, this dwelling 
does make efficient use of the urban land and so the siting within this 
residential garden plot is considered in this case.  

 

Residential Amenity: 

 

33. Saved policy 59.BE requires proposed development to avoid unduly 
impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of 
outlook, noise and fumes. 

 

34. Although raised in topography, the dwelling is positioned where it will not 
directly look into any windows to the closest neighbours in Norman 
Gardens (numbers 6 and 9). Views from the dwelling’s other windows will 
be obscured by the existing boundary treatment (high hedging and 
fencing).  Furthermore, the modest height of the proposed bungalow, along 
with the reasonable set back from the site boundaries and neighbouring 
dwellings, means it will not have an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity, in terms of a loss of outlook or loss of light.   

 

Living Conditions 

 

35. The proposed bungalow exceeds the nationally described space 
standards, whereby a 3-bed single-storey dwelling, able to 
accommodate 6 people must measure 95m2.  This proposal measures a 
gross internal area of 144.5m2.  

36. The proposed amenity space also exceeds the council’s requirement for 
private amenity space.  The Quality Places SPD sets out that private 
amenity space must measure at least 60% of the floor space.  A 60% 
figure would be 86.7m2 and the proposed private amenity space 
measures 216m2.       

37. While it is recognized the rear garden may feel overshadowed by the 
properties at St John Road, they are distanced approx. 30m away.  
Also, the property is within a 10-minute walk to public open space 
(Hedge End Recreation Playground).  

30



 

Highways: 

 

38. It is proposed that access will be via a section of turning head in Norman 
Gardens, and this is acceptable, particularly given that the dimensions of 
the proposed driveway allow for forward gear access and egress.  A drop 
kerb vehicle crossover will however be required in order to achieve this 
access from the highway, and the developer should be made aware that 
subsequent to any permission that may be issued by EBC as Local 
Planning Authority, a secondary permission will be required from HCC to 
actually undertake the works. 

 

Parking: 

 

39. The proposed driveway for the dwelling can easily accommodate the 
minimum of two off-road parking spaces required by the Council’s 
‘Residential Parking Standards’ SPD for the proposed three-bedroom 
dwelling, as well as on-site turning. The application is therefore considered 
to comply with saved Policy 104.T of the current Local Plan and draft 
Policy DM14 of the Submitted Local Plan.  
 

40. A small outbuilding to accommodate cycle and bin storage is also provided 
to the front of the property.  The proposed roof slopes down to the 
boundary, measuring approx. 2.3m at its highest point and approx. 2.1m on 
the front boundary. 

 

Trees: 

 

41. The amended plans have moved the dwelling’s footprint to the southeast, 
further away from T5. The dwelling is still in the same proximity to T2, 
which is not ideal as this encroaches into the root protection area. 
However, providing the arboricultural report and protection plan are 
followed then there should be no significant impact on the tree.  

 

Ecology: 

 

42. The Council’s Ecologist comments that the bird roosting boxes are 
appropriate.; the hedgerows should be managed so that only part of them 
are trimmed during any one year, on a 3 year rotation so that there are 
always berries available; a native wildflower mix such as Emorsgate EH1 F 
planted along the hedgerow would provide more flowers for pollinators, 
seeds for birds, and larval food plants for native butterflies; and 
alternatively, a flowering lawn mixture could be used such as Emorsgate 
EL1 or EM2 which responds well to regular short mowing but still provides 
flowers for pollinators.  

31



 
43. Also, that the closed board fencing should have 15 x 15 cm gaps in the 

baseboards to allow the passage of small mammals such as hedgehogs 
between neighbouring gardens.  

 

 

Impact of Special Protection Area 

 

Nutrient Neutrality: 

 

44. The issue of new development achieving ‘Nutrient Neutrality’ is a matter 
that the LPA is required to address.   

45. The water environment within the Solent region is one of the most 
important for wildlife in the United Kingdom. The Solent water environment 
is internationally important for its wildlife and is protected under the Water 
Environment Regulations and the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations as well as national protection for many parts of the coastline 
and their sea. There are high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input into 
this water environment with sound evidence that these nutrients are 
causing eutrophication at the designated sites (Solent & Southampton 
Water Special Protection Area (SPA) and Ramsar site and the Solent 
Maritime Special Area of Conservation (SAC)). These nutrient inputs are 
currently caused mostly by wastewater from existing housing and 
agricultural sources. The resulting dense mats of green algae are 
impacting on the Solent’s protected habitats and bird species. 

46. There is the potential for future housing developments (which involve a net 
increase in dwellings) across the Solent region to further exacerbate these 
impacts and thereby create a risk to the potential future conservation status 
of the Solent Complex and the features for which it is designated, therefore 
acting against the stated conservation objectives of the European sites. 

 
47. Natural England have advised that there is currently uncertainty over 

whether mitigation will be required when delivering new residential 
development to address the existing levels of nitrogen and phosphorus 
input to the water environment.  In light of this, and to provide confidence 
that the development will be deliverable, it is Natural England’s advice that 
proposed residential developments achieve nutrient neutrality. To this end, 
Natural England have published methodology to calculate nitrate levels 
and produce a ‘nutrient budget’ regarding the existing and predicted levels 
of nitrates leaching into the water environment.  This budget should be able 
to demonstrate no increase in nutrients, known as “nutrient neutrality”. 
Where an increase in nutrient levels is expected, Natural England advise 
mitigation should be provided to offset this increase and ensure the 
protected habitats are protected, prior to issuing a decision.  Following 
recent case law, the LPA are no longer able to condition mitigation details 
be provided post permission being granted.  

 

32



48. Through mitigation off-site through the removal of land from agricultural use 
is provided and, as competent authority, Eastleigh Borough Council has 
undertaken the Appropriate Assessment on this basis with the conclusion 
that the impact can be satisfactorily mitigated.  The Applicant intends to 
buy nitrates credits from Eastleigh Borough Council’s scheme, and this is 
to be secured before issuing the decision.  

 
 
Recreational Disturbance SPA - Solent & Southampton Water 
 
49. The site is located within the 5.6km buffer of the Solent & Southampton 

Water Special Protection Area, which is an internationally designated 
conservation site and is protected for its overwintering birds. It is 
recognised that new house building is placing increased pressure on these 
overwintering birds from more people visiting the coastline. As such the 
Council requires all housing developments within the buffer to make a 
financial contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation Strategy, 
which aims to limit recreation disturbance to our coastline through careful 
management. The Applicant intends to make a payment to the mitigation 
scheme, which will be secured before issuing the decision.  

 
 
Sustainability Measures and Climate Change: 
 
50. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that all 

planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on the 
environment. Details elsewhere in this report set out the Climate Change 
and Environmental implications of this application and their proposed 
mitigations. 
 

51. The NPPF (paragraphs 152-158), Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of 
the Local Plan, and emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the 
submitted Local Plan require development to be sustainable in terms of 
resource use, climate change and energy use. In March 2015 a 
Ministerial Statement announced that the Code for Sustainable Homes 
would cease to be applied to new development, although the 
requirement to achieve the Code’s levels for energy efficiency and water 
consumption remains. A condition requiring the new development to 
meet these requirements can reasonably be imposed.   

 
Other material considerations 

 
 
The Council’s Five-Year Housing Land Supply: 
 
52. Also of note is the latest position on the Government- required 5 year 

housing land supply. The published figure for 1st April 2021 confirms that 
the Council currently has a 5.9 year supply and a 5% buffer. 

 
Equalities Implications: 

33



 
53. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality 

duty. Section149 states:- 
a. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due 

regard to the need to: 
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 

other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share 

a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it; 

iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
54. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the 

equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It 
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications. 

 

Conclusion 
 
55. The issues relating to the previous refused scheme for a three-bedroom 

bungalow have been overcome. 
 
56. The LPA is of the opinion that no harm would be caused to the prevailing 

character of the immediate area and the construction of a dwelling on this 
plot makes efficient use of the urban land.  

 
57. Further, the design amendments incorporated into the scheme would not 

result in an overbearing development impact neighbour amenity. 
 
58. As such the recommended is Permit, subject to securing mitigation towards 

the development’s impact on the Special Protection Area by way of nitrates 
and recreational disturbance.  

 
 

34



 

35



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Financial Management
	9 Planning Application - Land to the rear of 82 St John's Road, Southampton, SO30 4DF

